# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 7/6/2020 4:51 PM SUPREME COURT NO. 98730-1

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/7/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Appeal from the Court of Appeals, Division III of the State of Washington
Cause No. 364399

SEVEN HILLS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and WATER WORKS PROPERTIES, LLC, a Washington limited liability company;

Petitioners,

V.

CHELAN COUNTY, a municipal corporation.

Respondent.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

Taudd A. Hume, WSBA No. 33529
PARSONS | BURNETT | BJORDAHL | HUME, LLP
Steam Plant Square, Suite 225
159 S. Lincoln Street
Spokane, Washington 99201

# 1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Seven Hills, LLC, a Washington limited liability company and Water Works Properties, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, hereby petition for review of the Court of Appeals decision identified in Section 2.

# 2. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the unpublished opinion issued on April 23, 2020 by the Court of Appeals for Division III, which is attached as **Exhibit A** hereto. The Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration on June 4, 2020, which is attached as **Exhibit B** hereto.

# 3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did Petitioners establish nonconforming rights through their activities on the Property prior to the enactment of Resolution 2016-14?
- 2. Did the enactment of a moratorium act to extinguish the creation of Petitioners non-conforming rights?
- 3. May Resolution 2016-14 be applied retroactively to extinguish Petitioners' established vested rights?

# 4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Each County in Washington had a different response to the passage of I-502 (legalization of cannabis) in 2013. By early 2014, Chelan County determined that production and processing of cannabis would be regulated as any other form of agriculture, controlled exclusively though the State's

licensing requirements (e.g. WAC 314-55 et seq.), and permitted outright on land zoned for agricultural uses, which included the Rural Industrial Zone. No Conditional Use Permit would be required to cite a growing/processing operation in the Rural Industrial Zone.

Throughout 2014 and 2015 Seven Hills worked to develop property located in the Rural Industrial Zone to satisfy the state requirements for a Tier II cannabis license. CP 020-671; Decl. of Roy Arms.

On September 29, 2015, the County adopted an emergency moratorium temporarily prohibiting the siting of new I-502 businesses in the County (Resolution 2015-94). CP 445-446. This Resolution left existing operations unaffected, did not enact any new regulations, and did not terminate any existing regulations. By September 29, 2015 Seven Hills spent approximately \$765,751.35 on costs, investments and site improvements on the property. CP 609.

Throughout 2015 and into early 2016 Seven Hills continued to develop the Property and work toward fulfilling all of the various state requirements. CP 609. Based upon prior conversations with the County, Seven Hills believed that it did not need any other permits from the County. CP 609. On January 26, 2016 Seven Hills received its Tier II license from the Washington State Liquor Control Board (License No.

4116935). CP 496, 609.

On February 9, 2016, Chelan County adopted Resolution 2016-14, which terminated all I-502 related businesses in Chelan County using a single, uniform two-year termination date, and which purported to retroactively apply back to September 29, 2015 (the date of the moratorium). By February 9, 2016 Seven Hills had spent approximately \$1,232,390.84 on costs, investments and site improvements in pursuit of receiving its state license. CP 609.

Petitioners have always contended that this use of their property and the receipt of their Tier II license *prior to* Chelan County's change in regulations on February 9, 2016, allowed Seven Hills to establish their nonconforming rights.

On or about March 24, 2017 Petitioners received a "Notice and Order to Abate Zoning and Building Code Violations" (the "Notice and Order"), dated March 24, 2017, and issued by Chelan County.

Specifically, the Notice and Order contained four complaints against Petitioners: (1) production and processing of marijuana in contravention of Resolution 2016-14, (2) construction and operation of unpermitted structures, (3) operation of unpermitted propane tanks, and (4) public nuisance for violating the foregoing. CP 609.

On July 19, 2017, a public hearing was held before the Chelan

County Hearing Examiner, who, through a decision dated August 2, 2017, denied Petitioners' appeal and affirmed each violation raised in the County's March 24, 2017 Notice and Order.

Petitioners appealed the Hearing Examiner's decision to the Chelan County Superior Court, who on October 18, 2018 entered an order denying Appellant's LUPA appeal.

On November 16, 2018 Petitioners appealed the Superior Court's decision to Division III of the Court of Appeals, who denied Petitioners' appeal on April 23, 2020. The Court subsequently denied Petitioners' Request for Reconsideration on June 4, 2020.

## 5. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

"The right to continue a nonconforming use despite a zoning ordinance which prohibits such a use in the area is sometimes referred to as a 'protected' or 'vested' right." *Rhod-A-Zalea & 35th, Inc. v.*Snohomish County, 136 Wn.2d 1, 6, 959 P.2d 1024 (1998). "A nonconforming use is a use which lawfully existed prior to the enactment of a zoning ordinance, and which is maintained after the effective date of the ordinance, although it does not comply with the zoning restrictions applicable to the district in which it is situated." *Id.*; see also Chelan County Code 14.98.1300. "The landowner bears the burden of establishing

that a valid nonconforming use exists." *McMilian v. King County*, 161 Wn. App. 581, 591 (2011). Washington law allows preexisting legal nonconforming uses to continue in spite of a subsequent contrary zoning ordinance. *Jefferson County v. Lakeside Industries*, 106 Wn. App. 380, 385 (2001).

"Nonconforming uses" are defined in Chelan County's code as a use "which was lawful prior to the adoption, revision or amendment of a zoning ordinance, but which fails by reason of such adoption, revision or amendment to conform to the current requirement of the zoning district." CCC 14.98.1300. The Court of Appeals appears to interpret the "change in regulation" that triggered the nonconformity of Petitioners' use as the moratorium itself, and expresses concern that Petitioners did not have a valid license from the WSLCB by that point in time:

[w]e do not believe that anyone could have a valid right to produce marijuana prior to the time the WSLCB authorized the activity. Here, Seven Hills did not obtain a valid license to produce marijuana until January 26, 2016. Since the county's temporary moratorium was in place at that time, there could be no valid nonconforming use at that time. Seven Hills' argument fails under the statute.

Court of Appeals Decision, at page 7.

Seven Hills has failed to demonstrate that it was lawfully operating a marijuana production facility before the county enacted its original moratorium. The evidence supported each of the four violations.

Court of Appeals Decision, at page 8.

But the moratorium (Resolution 2015-94), which the County adopted on September 29, 2015, did not amend, alter or change the County's existing zoning regulations to render Petitioners' use of their property as nonconforming. Rather, it was the subsequent passage of Resolution 2016-14 on February 9, 2016 that actually terminated cannabis as a use in the Rural Industrial Zone, thus rendering Petitioners use of the property as nonconforming. In short, Petitioners had until February 9, 2016 to establish use of the property sufficient to justify its nonconforming rights.

And by February 9, 2016 Petitioners had spent approximately \$1,232,390.84 on costs, investments and site improvements in pursuit of receiving its state license, had received a Tier II cannabis license from the WSLCB on January 26, 2016, and had actually produced and processed cannabis on the property. CR 581. So, Seven Hills did in fact receive its license before the change in regulation rendering the use of the property as nonconforming. Seven Hills was fully licensed and fully operational prior to the adoption of Resolution 2016-14. Therefore, under Washington nonconforming use law, these facts are enough to shift the burden to the County to demonstrate that Seven Hills abandoned or discontinued the use

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Between January 26, 2016 and February 9, 2016, under full license from the State, Seven Hills produced and processed cannabis on the Property. CR 581.

after the ordinance's enactment. See e.g. Van Sant v. City of Everett, 69 Wash. App. 641, 648 (1993).

Additionally, it is important to understand that the County's moratorium did not effect Petitioners' development of the property or apply to its operations. Importantly, Resolution 2015-94 placed a six month temporary moratorium "on the siting of licensed recreational marijuana retail stores, production, and processing . . ." Cultivation and processing of cannabis were still treated as agricultural activities under the County's existing code, only the siting of new businesses was prohibited. This language did not affect the licensing relationship between the WSLCB and Appellant, nor did it keep Petitioners from continuing to work on other permitting unrelated to the County (e.g. electrical permits under the jurisdiction of the department of labor and industry, septic permits under the jurisdiction of the health department etc.).

Nor can Resolution 2016-14 be retroactively applied to extinguish Petitioners nonconforming rights. Resolution 2016-14 states:

Uses herein declared permanently prohibited that were lawfully established and in actual physical operation prior to September 29, 2015, are nonconforming and must cease, abate, and terminate no later than March 1, 2018.

The retroactive nature of this resolution is inapplicable as applied to, or unenforceable upon, Seven Hills. Statutes are generally presumed to

apply prospectively only. *Macumber v. Shafer*, 96 Wash.2d 568, 570 (1981). But, if a statute is remedial, its effects may be retroactively applied, *Macumber*, at 570, unless the statute affects a vested right, *Johnston v. Beneficial Management Corp.*, 85 Wash.2d 637, 641 (1975), or existing right, *Gillis v. King Cy.*, 42 Wash.2d 373, 378 (1953). In fact, a statute may not be given retroactive effect, regardless of the intention of the legislature, where the effect would be to interfere with vested rights. *Gillis, 42 Wn.2d at* 376. Further, a statute written in present and future tenses manifests a legislative intent that it apply prospectively only. *Miebach v. Colasurdo*, 35 Wash. App. 803, 812 (1983) (citing *Johnston*, 85 Wash.2d at 641–42).

For example, consider this common scenario - imagine a local jurisdiction just announced that it is going to amend its Shoreline Master Program to increase the size of the buffers along the shoreline from 50 to 150 feet. Some landowners would undoubtedly rush to establish vested rights under the existing, less stringent, buffer regulations by filing applications for building permits or plat applications. The local jurisdiction would not then be able to execute a resolution imposing the new changes to the shoreline buffer requirements while simultaneously retroactively applying the application of the ordinance back three months to a time before the landowners had established their vested rights.

Similarly, under Washington law Resolution 2016-14 cannot be applied retroactively to eliminate or impinge the nonconforming rights of Seven Hills that were previously established. Again, legal nonconforming uses are vested legal rights. Skamania County v. Woodall, 104 Wash.App. 525, 539 (2001).

Understanding these nuances and distinctions are important to maintaining the land use jurisprudence of this state. Neither the courts nor the legislature have created any bright line legal rules regarding the "amount" of use sufficient to establish nonconforming rights. Thus far, courts have decided each case according to their own facts. For example, in *Anderson vs. Island County*, 81 Wn.2d 312, 321 (1972) the Court found a nonconforming use did not exist because the claimed use did not actually exist on the parcel prior the zoning change. In *First Pioneer Trading Co., Inc. v. Pierce County*, 146 Wn.App. 606, 614 (2008) the Court found no evidence - comparing postal records, arterial photographs and testimony from the neighbors - to support the owner's contention that the claimed use had taken place on the property at all, holding that the overall lack of evidence in the record was sufficient to uphold the Hearing Examiner's decision.

The Court of Appeals Decision creates two potential problems.

First, it potentially confuses existing jurisprudence by conflating the

concept of a moratorium, which does not actually change land use regulations, with a subsequent ordinance amendment that does terminate or change land use regulations sufficient to trigger the creation of a use as "nonconforming." Again, a "nonconforming use" is a use "which was lawful prior to the adoption, revision or amendment of a zoning ordinance, but which fails by reason of such adoption, revision or amendment to conform to the current requirement of the zoning district." CCC 14.98.1300. In order for a use to become nonconforming, the regulation must be legislatively changed to create a contrary zoning ordinance. A moratorium is not that change.

Second, this Court's Decision moves further towards the creation of a bright line rule vis-à-vis the requirement that a landowner have all permits in place as a pre-requisite to the creation of nonconforming rights. It is important to note that Division I previously recognized that "[c]ourts have repeatedly found that licensing and other regulations *unrelated* to land use approval, whether business licensing, business and occupation tax regulations, or building permits, are not per se determinative of the continuance of a non-conforming use." *Van Sant vs. City of Everett*, 69 Wash. App. 641, 651–52 (1993). In Washington's nonconforming use jurisprudence the focus appears to be on the landowner's use of the their property. Here, since the use is allowed outright in the zone, spending

\$1.2M towards costs and site improvements in pursuit of that use should be sufficient evidence of the existence and establishment of the use irrespective of licensing issues.

Despite the fact that the Court of Appeals decision is unpublished, under GR 14.1 an unpublished decision may nonetheless "be accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate." As such, Petitioners believe that the precedential value of this decision has the potential to confuse existing Washington jurisprudence because it is in conflict with existing case law from the Court of Appeals and the Washington State Supreme Court, particularly as that decision relates to the effect of a moratorium on the establishment of non-conforming rights.

### 6. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Petitioners Seven Hills, LLC and Water Works Properties, LLC respectfully request that this Court grant review under RAP 13.4 of the Court of Appeals decision to uphold the Chelan County Hearing Examiner's decision regarding Petitioners' Notice and Order.

The Court should reverse Division III's opinion and the trial court's decision upholding the decision of the Chelan County Hearing Examiner as to whether Petitioners had generated the non-conforming

rights to continue to use the property for the production of cannabis.