FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/30/2020 4:14 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 98730-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SEVEN HILLS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; and WATER WORKS PROPERTIES, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioners,

v.

CHELAN COUNTY, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kenneth W. Harper, WSBA No. 25578 MENKE JACKSON BEYER, LLP 807 N. 39th Avenue Yakima, Washington 98902 Telephone: (509) 575-0313 Attorneys for Respondent Chelan County

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The County incorporates by reference the statement of facts in the decision of the Court of Appeals. Op. at 1-4. The material facts in this case may be deemed undisputed because Seven Hills assigned no error to any finding of fact made by the hearing examiner. Op. at 4 ("Seven Hills assigns no error to any finding of fact, nor does it suggest that the burden of proof mattered in this case."). The County provides the following factual summary for additional context.

A. Chelan County enacted a moratorium to prohibit marijuanarelated land uses before Seven Hills engaged in legal marijuana production and processing at the site.

Pertinent dates that bear on Seven Hills' claims are the following:

• September 29, 2015 – The County enacted a moratorium on marijuana production and processing. CP 445-446.

- January 26, 2016 A marijuana license was issued legally allowing for the first time marijuana production and processing on the Seven Hills property. CP 496, 609.
- February 16, 2016 The County prohibition against marijuana production and processing was made permanent. CP 450-456.

Based on these facts, it was clear to the Court of Appeals that marijuana production and processing at the Seven Hills property prior to issuance of the marijuana license was illegal under state law. Op. at 6-7. By the time a marijuana license had been issued by the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board ("WSLCB") for the Seven Hills property, the County's moratorium on marijuana production and processing had been in effect for several months as a result of the adoption of Chelan County Resolution 2015-94 on September 29, 2015. Op. at 1-2. The moratorium's prohibition was made permanent on February 16, 2016. CP 450-456. Only shortly prior to the permanent ban, and well after the initial moratorium, did Seven Hills commence marijuana production and processing. Op. at 3.

But even after Seven Hills had obtained its marijuana production and processing license from the WSLCB, it still did not have a lawful marijuana-related land use. This is because Seven Hills continued to lack permits and authorizations for its marijuana greenhouse structures and the related propane tanks. Op. at 3, 7.

B. Seven Hills has lost in all prior proceedings in this case.

After the County learned of Seven Hills' unlawful and unpermitted activities, it issued a notice and order for four violations of local code. Op. at 3; CP 56-58. The hearing examiner affirmed the order. Op. at 3; CP 13-18. The Superior Court affirmed the hearing examiner. Op. at 3; CP 865-873. The Court of Appeals identified "the sole substantive issue in this case" as "whether Seven Hills began marijuana production before the county law changed to prevent it " Op. at 4-5. The Court of Appeals observed that Seven Hills did not obtain a license to produce marijuana until January 26, 2016, and that because the County's temporary moratorium was already in place, "there could be no valid nonconforming use at that time." Op. at 7. The Court of Appeals also observed that "[u]nlawfully operating a greenhouse without the necessary permits to do so simply does not establish a lawful use." Id. The Court of Appeals concluded that "[t]he evidence supported each of the four violations" and affirmed the hearing examiner and the trial court. Op. at 8-9.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with, and involves a straightforward application of, this Court's precedent regarding the law of nonconforming uses.

Seven Hills scarcely even argues that the Court of Appeals created a significant question of law by relying upon *Rhod-A-Zalea* to dispose of the one substantive issue in this case. Op. at 6. Instead, Seven Hills states that the decision below raises two so-called "potential problems." Pet. at 12-13.

First, without citing any precedent whatsoever, Seven Hills provides a confusing one-paragraph argument claiming that the Court of Appeals did not appreciate the relationship between a moratorium and a nonconforming use. Pet. at 12-13. Second, Seven Hills faults the Court of Appeals for finding that the absence of several required permits and approvals precluded Seven Hills from having a lawful nonconforming use prior to the moratorium. Pet. at 13-14.

The problem with Seven Hills' first argument is that it is only a renewal of its three-time losing legal argument made previously. Seven Hills provides this Court no reason to believe that the Court of Appeals' decision applied the law of nonconforming uses and moratoria in a way contrary to any Washington precedent. There is nothing for this Court to consider pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) because Seven Hills does not—or cannot—identify any conflicting precedent. Pet. at 12-13. Seven Hills claims that its expenditures on site-development activities in anticipation of a future lawful marijuana operation "allowed [it] to

establish...nonconforming rights" but cites nothing for this proposition.

Pet. at 6. The real purpose of this claim may be to imply that the County should be estopped from enforcing its moratorium, but this cannot support the petition because the matter was previously waived. Op. at 6, n.5.

In its second point, Seven Hills makes passing reference to a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, *Van Sant v. City of Everett*, 69 Wn. App. 641, 651-52, 849 P.2d 1276 (1993). Pet. at 13. But Seven Hills misapplies the holding of *Van Sant* and again fails to demonstrate any actual conflict between the decision below and *Van Sant*.

The issue before the court in *Van Sant* was regarding abandonment of a nonconforming use, not establishment. *Van Sant*, 69 Wn. App. at 651-654. The *Van Sant* court held that a license or other regulatory permit not related to land use approval is not *per se* determinative of the *continuance* of a nonconforming use. *Id.* at 651-52. The issue in the present case, however, is whether Seven Hills *established* a nonconforming use in the first place.

Washington law has long held that nonconforming uses are disfavored and that the nonconforming use doctrine "is a narrow exception" to otherwise plenary local land use regulatory power. *King County Dep't of Dev. & Envtl. Servs. v. King County*, 177 Wn.2d 636, 646, 305 P.3d 240 (2013) (*citing Rhod-A-Zalea*, 136 Wn.2d at 6-7). In

turn, the basis of this Court's 1998 decision in *Rhod-A-Zalea* can be traced at least as far back as the 1952 decision of *State ex. rel. Miller v. Cain*, 40 Wn.2d 216, 221, 242 P.2d 505 (1952). The continuity of the law speaks for itself.

Since the time that this Court first articulated the law of nonconforming uses, and particularly as the law was summarized and restated in *Rhod-A-Zalea*, Washington has always required that in order to possess lawful nonconforming use status a land use must be lawfully existing in all respects prior to the enactment of a contrary land use regulation. *Rhod-A-Zalea*, 136 Wn.2d at 6.

It would be sufficient merely to point out that Seven Hills' marijuana operation indisputably was not a lawful use even at the time of the County's permanent ban on February 16, 2016, when the County adopted its permanent ban in Resolution 2016-14. CP 450-456. This is because, as the Court of Appeals observed, Seven Hills actually "never obtained" approvals to lawfully operate its greenhouses or the associated propane tanks. Op. at 7.

The more pertinent date for consideration of nonconforming use rights is September 29, 2015, the date of the County's initial moratorium. On this date Seven Hills did not even possess a valid license to produce marijuana from the WSLCB. Op. at 7.

The Court of Appeals correctly understood that the moratorium prevented the establishment of any vested nonconforming uses before the County had a reasonable opportunity to evaluate its land use regulations and adapt them to the novel and virtually unprecedented new activities allowed pursuant to I-502. The Court of Appeals' decision is consisted with precedent holding that moratoria are "recognized techniques designed to preserve the status quo so that new plans and regulations will not be rendered moot by intervening development." *Matson v. Clark County Bd. of Comm'rs*, 79 Wn. App. 641, 644, 904 P.2d 317 (1995). Because there is a risk of frustrating long-term planning if moratoria are not given due effect, moratoria prevail over vesting of rights. *Matson*, 79 Wn. App. at 647-648. Seven Hills' claim that that the moratorium did not alter the County's existing zoning regulations is wrong, because that was precisely the point of the moratorium. Pet. at 9; CP 445.

In attempting to show that the Court of Appeals' decision is incompatible with *Van Sant*, Seven Hills itself departs from precedent. This is because the same argument made by Seven Hills was considered and rejected in *First Pioneer Trading Co., Inc. v. Pierce County*, 146 Wn. App. 606, 616-17, 191 P.3d 928 (2008), *review denied*, 165 Wn.2d 1053 (2009). The decision in *First Pioneer* correctly characterized *Van Sant* as a case relating to the continuance or abandonment of a vested preexisting

use. *First Pioneer*, 146 Wn. App. at 616-17. Because First Pioneer could not show that its industrial use of the subject property was fully lawful at the time the Pierce County Code changed, it could not establish a prior legal nonconforming use. *Id.* at 617.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with this Court's decisions regarding the law of nonconforming uses.

B. Seven Hills' petition does not raise an issue of constitutional significance or substantial public interest.

Seven Hills focuses its argument on the purported existence of a conflict in precedent. In reality, the petition shows only that Seven Hills disagrees with the outcome in this case and seeks to relitigate the merits of its claims before this Court.

The petition does not develop any argument claiming unconstitutionality. The petition does not suggest that the decision below raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. No grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4) are provided by Seven Hills.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Because Seven Hills' petition meets none of this Court's criteria for granting review, the County respectfully requests that it be denied.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 30th day of July, 2020.

MENKE JACKSON BEYER, LLP

/s/Kenneth W. Harper Kenneth W. Harper, WSBA #25578 Attorneys for Respondent Chelan County